

# **SouthGobi Resources Ltd.**CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS December 31, 2010

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

# **Independent Auditor's Report**

To the Shareholders of SouthGobi Resources Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of SouthGobi Resources Ltd., which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### **Auditor's Responsibility**

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### **Opinion**

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SouthGobi Resources Ltd. as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants March 30, 2011

Deloitte & Touche Lil

Vancouver, Canada

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income	
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	7
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
1. Corporate information	8
2. Basis of preparation	9
3. Summary of significant accounting policies	10
4. Segmented information	25
5. Discontinued operations	27
6. Cost of sales	
7. Administration expenses	28
8. Evaluation and exploration expenses	29
9. Finance costs and income	29
10. Taxes	
11. Loss per share	
12. Cash and cash equivalents	
13. Trade and other receivables	
14. Investments	
15. Inventories	
16. Prepaid expenses and deposits	
17. Property, plant and equipment	
18. Trade and other payables	
19. Line of credit facilities	40
20. Convertible debenture	
21. Decommissioning liability	
22. Share capital	46
23. Share-based payments	46
24. Reserves	49
25. Accumulated deficit and dividends	
26. Capital risk management	50
27. Financial instruments	51
28. Related party transactions	
29. Key management personnel compensation	
30. Supplemental cash flow information	62
31. Commitments for expenditure	
32. Contingencies	
33. Approval of the financial statements	63
ADDITIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMATION	
A1. Loss for the year	64
A2. Director and employee emoluments	
A3. Five year summary	
A4 Share renurchase	68

# **Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income**

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except for share and per share amounts)

		Year ended I	December 31,
	Notes	2010	2009
CONTINUING OPERATIONS			
Revenue		\$ 79.777	\$ 36,038
Cost of sales	6	(77,488)	(29,425)
Income from mine operations		2,289	6,613
•		ŕ	•
Administration expenses	7	(30,497)	(24,535)
Evaluation and exploration expenses	8	(18,769)	(5,399)
Operating loss from continuing operations		(46,977)	(23,321)
Finance costs	9	(175,855)	(63,754)
Finance income	9	103,948	920
Loss before tax		(118,884)	(86,155)
Current income tax expense	10	(1,806)	(509)
Deferred income tax recovery	10	4,495	6,947
Loss from continuing operations		(116,195)	(79,717)
Loss from discontinued operations	5	-	(31,088)
Net loss for the year		(116,195)	(110,805)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME			
Gain on available-for-sale assets, net of tax	14	27,761	=
Net comprehensive loss attributable to equity holders of the Company		\$ (88,434)	\$ (110,805)
			, , ,
BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE FROM:			
Continuing operations	11	\$ (0.66)	\$ (0.60)
Discontinued operations	11	-	(0.23)
Continuing and discontinued operations		\$ (0.66)	\$ (0.83)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

# **Consolidated Statement of Financial Position**

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

					0.4
	<b>.</b>		As at Dec	embe	
ACCETTO	Note	<u>s</u>	2010		2009
ASSETS					
Current assets					
Cash and cash equivalents	12	\$		\$	357,342
Trade and other receivables	13		30,246		12,328
Short term investments	14		17,529		14,999
Inventories	15		26,160		16,384
Prepaid expenses and deposits	16		10,026		8,119
Total current assets			575,999		409,172
Non-current assets					
Property, plant and equipment	17		266,771		82,705
Deferred listing costs			-		4,565
Deferred income tax assets	10		11,442		6,947
Long term investments	14		107,416		57,070
Other receivables			238		225
Total non-current assets			385,867		151,512
Total assets		\$	961,866	\$	560,684
1 otal assets		φ	901,000	Ψ	300,004
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES					
Current liabilities					
Trade and other payables	18	\$	24,137	\$	12,669
Amounts due under line of credit facility	19	Ψ	24,137	Ψ	3,009
Current portion of convertible debenture	20		6,312		4,712
Total current liabilities	20		30,449		20,390
			30,117		20,370
Non-current liabilities					
Convertible debenture	20		245,498		542,351
Deferred income tax liabilities	10		3,966		-
Decommissioning liability	21		3,063		735
Total non-current liabilities			252,527		543,086
Total liabilities			282,976		563,476
Shareholders' equity/(deficiency)					
Common shares	22		1,061,560		296,419
Share option reserve	24		32,360		22,300
Investment revaluation reserve	24		27,761		-
Accumulated deficit	25		(442,791)		(321,511)
Total shareholders' equity/(deficiency)			678,890		(2,792)
					, ,
Total shareholders' equity and liabilities		\$	961,866	\$	560,684
Net current assets		\$	545 550	\$	388,782
Total assets less current liabilities			545,550 931,417	\$ \$	540,294
Total assets less cultent habilities		Þ	731,417	Ф	340,234
Commitments for expenditure (Note 31)					
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the	nese consolidated financial statements.				
ADDDOVED BY THE DOADD.					
APPROVED BY THE BOARD:					
"Andre Deepwell" "Pierre Le	rhel"				
Director Director					
Director Director					

# **Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity**

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands)

	Number of shares		Common shares		Share option eserve	rev	vestment valuation reserve	Accumulated deficit	Tota	ı <u>l</u>
Balances, January 1, 2009	133,193	\$	289,512	\$	12.775	\$	_	\$ (213,323)	\$ 88.	.964
Shares issued for:		•	,	•	,	,		+ (===,===)	, ,,,	
Exercise of share options	1,324		6,907		(3,010)		_	-	3,	,897
Share-based compensation charged to operations	-		-		12,535		-	-	12,	,535
Sale of Metals Division	-		-		-		-	2,617	2,	,617
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period	-		-		-		-	(110,805)	(110,	,805)
Balances, December 31, 2009	134,517	\$	296,419	\$	22,300	\$	-	\$ (321,511)	\$ (2,	,792)
Shares issued for:										
Cash	27,228	\$	441,130	\$	-	\$	-	\$ -	\$ 441,	130
Share issue costs	-		(27,200)				-	-	(27,	200)
Conversion of convertible debenture	21,471		347,643		-		-	-	347,	643
Interest settlement on convertible debenture	90		1,436		-		-	-	1,	436
Exercise of share options	1,090		7,434		(3,200)		-	•	4,	234
Share-based compensation charged to operations	-		-		13,260		-	-	13,	260
Common shares repurchased and cancelled	(911)		(5,272)		-		-	(5,085)	(10,	357)
Share buy-back costs	-		(30)		-		-	-		(30)
Net loss for the year	-		-		-		-	(116,195)	(116,	195)
Other comprehensive income for the year	-		-		-		27,761	-	27,	761
Balances, December 31, 2010	183,485	\$1	,061,560	\$	32,360	\$	27,761	\$ (442,791)	\$ 678,	890

 $The \ accompanying \ notes \ are \ an \ integral \ part \ of \ these \ consolidated \ financial \ statements.$ 

# **Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows**

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

		Year ended D	ecember 31,
ODED ATTRIC A CTRUTTIES	Notes	2010	2009
OPERATING ACTIVITIES		* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	+
Loss for the year from continuing operations before tax Adjustments for:		\$ (118,884)	\$ (86,155)
Depreciation and depletion		13,219	5,856
Share-based compensation	23	13,260	12,195
Fair value change on embedded derivative	9	(100,637)	44,980
Mark to market adjustment on investments		(870)	(843)
Interest income		(2,441)	(77)
Accrued interest expense Transaction costs on issuance of convertible debenture		24,425	7,693 9,399
Interest paid		(21,926)	9,399
Loss on partial conversion of convertible debenture	9	151,353	_
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss		(3,703)	1,213
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment		3,770	245
Impairment of inventories	15	5,751	-
Impairment of property, plant and equipment Accretion of decommissioning liability	17	1,833 77	40
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital		(34,773)	(5,454)
Increase in inventories		(15,814)	(3,443)
Increase in trade and other receivables		(15,810)	(8,379)
Increase in prepaid expenses and deposits		(3,713)	(6,322)
Increase in trade and other payables		12,262	7,595
Cash used in continuing operations	5	(57,848)	(16,003)
Cash used in discontinued operations Cash used in operating activities	5	(57,848)	(19,227)
cash uscu in operating activities		(37,040)	(33,230)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		(199,770)	(35,770)
Interest received		2,336	37
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		22	26
Purchase of short term investments  Maturity of short term investments		15,000	(15,000)
Purchase of long term investments		(65,280)	(47,450)
Maturity of long term investments		30,000	-
Increase in other receivables		(13)	(225)
Cash used in continuing operations		(217,705)	(98,382)
Cash used in discontinued operations	5	-	(6,723)
Cash used in investing activities		(217,705)	(105,105)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Proceeds from issuance of common shares and exercise of stock options, net of issue costs		422,729	3,897
Repurchase of common shares, net of transaction costs		(10,387)	-
Increase in deferred charges		-	(4,565)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debenture, net of issue costs		-	485,000
Drawings under line of credit facilities		46,700	53,000
Repayments of line of credit facilities		(49,700) \$ 409,342	\$ 487,332
Cash generated from financing activities  Effect of foreign purposes rate changes on each		907	5 487,332
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash			
Increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year		134,696 357,342	347,002 10,340
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year		\$ 492,038	\$ 357,342
•			
COMPRISED OF:			
Cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations		\$ 492,038	\$ 357,342
Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations  Total cash and cash equivalents		\$ 402,029	\$ 357,342
i otai casii aiiu casii equivaiciits		\$ 492,038	\$ 357,342
Cash		\$ 461,853	\$ 242,352
Money market instruments		30,185	114,990
Total cash and cash equivalents		\$ 492,038	\$ 357,342

Supplemental cash flow information (Note 30)

 $The \, accompanying \, notes \, are \, an \, integral \, part \, of \, these \, consolidated \, financial \, statements.$ 

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

SouthGobi Resources Ltd. (formerly SouthGobi Energy Resources Ltd.) is a publicly listed company incorporated in Canada with limited liability under the legislation of the Province of British Columbia and its shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The company together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Company") is an integrated coal mining, development and exploration company. The Company's parent is Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. (the "parent" or "Ivanhoe").

The head office, principal address and registered and records office of the Company are located at 999 Canada Place, Suite 654, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3E1.

The Company's financial statements and those of all of its controlled subsidiaries are presented in U.S. dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars except where otherwise indicated. Information related to shares and stock options is presented in thousands except for per share information, which is presented in U.S. cents.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

#### 2.1 Statement of compliance

The Company's Consolidated Financial Statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with and using accounting policies in full compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and International Accounting Standards ("IAS") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC"), effective for the Company's reporting for the year ended December 31, 2010.

#### 2.2 Basis of presentation

The Company's Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain non-current assets and financial instruments, which are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set out in Note 3.

#### 2.3 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations

The IASB issued a number of new and revised IASs, IFRSs, amendments and related IFRICs (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "new IFRS") which are effective for the Company's financial year beginning on January 1, 2010. For the purpose of preparing and presenting the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company has consistently adopted all these new standards for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

At the date of authorization of these Financial Statements, the IASB and IFRIC has issued the following new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations which are not yet effective during the year ended December 31, 2010.

•	IFRS 7 (Amendment)	Clarification of required level of disclosure (i)
•	IFRS 9	New financial instruments standard that replaces IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial assets $\mbox{\tiny (ii)}$
•	IAS 1 (Amendment)	Clarification of statement of changes in equity (i)
•	IAS 24 (Revised)	Related party disclosures (i)
•	IAS 32 (Amendment)	Classification of rights issues (iii)
•	IAS 34 (Amendment)	Disclosure requirements for significant events and transactions (i)
•	IFRIC 14 (Amendment)	Prepayment of a minimum funding requirement (i)
•	IFRIC 19	Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments (iv)

- (i) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011
- (ii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013
- (iii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after February 1, 2010

## **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

The Company anticipates that the application of these standards, amendments and interpretations will not have a material impact on the results and financial position of the Company.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

#### 3.1 Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of the Company and its controlled subsidiaries (Note 28). Control is achieved when the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

All intra-Company transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Company's equity therein. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination (see Note 3.2) and the minority interests' share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority interests in excess of their interest in the subsidiary's equity are allocated against the interests of the Company except to the extent that the minority interests have a binding obligation and are able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

#### 3.2 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses (other than entities which were under the control of the parent) are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair value (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for control of the acquiree. The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 'Business Combinations' are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 'Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations,' which are recognized and measured at fair value less cost to sell.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.2 Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Company's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized. If the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

A business combination involving businesses under common control is a business combination in which all of the combining businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the business combination, and that control is not transitory. Business combinations under common control are accounted for in accordance with the principle of merger accounting. In applying the principle of merger accounting, the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statement items of the combining businesses in which the common control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the combining business first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are combined using the existing book values prior to the common control combinations from the controlling parties' perspective. No amount is recognized in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the controlling party's interest.

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income includes the results of each of the combining businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining businesses first came under common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of common control combination.

#### 3.3 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.4 Foreign currencies

The Company's reporting currency and the functional currency of all of its operations is the U.S. dollar as this is the principal currency of the economic environment in which they operate.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the end of each reporting period.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

#### 3.5 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs not directly attributable to a qualifying asset are expensed in the period incurred.

#### 3.6 Retirement benefit costs

Payments to retirement benefit costs are charged as an expense when employees have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.7 Inventories

Coal inventories are stated at lower of production cost and net realizable value. Production costs include direct and indirect labour, operating materials and supplies, transportation costs and an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses, including depreciation and depletion. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Materials and supplies inventory consists of consumable parts and supplies which are valued at lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value. Supplies used in the production of inventories are not written down below cost if the finished products in which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. Net realizable value is defined as the selling price of the finished product less any provisions for obsolescence and costs of completion.

#### 3.8 Property, plant and equipment ("PPE")

PPE is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of PPE consists of the purchase price, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use and an initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of PPE, less their estimated residual value, using the straight-line method or unit-of-production method over the following expected useful lives:

Mobile equipment 5 years

Computer equipment 1 to 5 years
 Furniture and fixtures 5 years
 Machinery and equipment 3 to 10 years

Buildings and roads 5 to 15 yearsConstruction in progress see below

Mineral assets based on resources on a unit-of-

production basis

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.8 Property, plant and equipment ("PPE") (continued)

Construction in progress includes PPE in the course of construction for production or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognized impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate category of PPE when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Mineral assets include deferred stripping costs and decommissioning liabilities related to the reclamation of mining properties.

An item of PPE is derecognized upon disposal, when held for sale or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Company conducts an annual assessment of the residual balances, useful lives and depreciation methods being used for PPE and any changes arising from the assessment are applied by the Company prospectively.

#### 3.9 Stripping costs

Stripping costs incurred during the development of a mine are capitalized into PPE. Stripping costs incurred during the commercial production phase are variable production costs that are included in the costs of inventory produced during the period that the stripping costs are incurred, unless the stripping activity can be shown to give rise to future benefits from the mineral property, in which case the stripping costs would be capitalized into PPE.

Future benefits arise when stripping activity increases the future output of the mine by providing access to a new ore body that the previously deferred stripping costs in an area did not give access to. When stripping activities give rise to a future economic benefit, the costs associated with these activities are capitalized into PPE. Capitalized stripping costs are depleted on a unit-of-production basis, using estimated reserves as the depletion base.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.10 Mineral properties

All direct costs related to the acquisition of mineral property interests are capitalized into intangible assets on a property by property basis. Exploration costs, net of incidental revenues, are charged to operations in the period incurred until such time as it has been determined that a property has economically recoverable reserves, in which case subsequent exploration costs and the costs incurred to develop a property are capitalized into PPE. On the commencement of commercial production, depletion of each mining property will be provided on a unit-of-production basis using estimated resources as the depletion base.

The commencement of commercial production is deemed to occur on a determination made by management. Management's determination of when commercial production commences is based on several qualitative and quantitative factors including but not limited to the following:

- the elevation or bench where the coal to be mined has been reached
- the commissioning of major mine and plant equipment is completed
- operating results are being achieved in a consistent manner.

However, the production phase does not commence with the removal of *de minimis* saleable mineral materials that occur in conjunction with the removal of overburden or waste material for the purpose of obtaining access to an ore body.

#### 3.11 Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities

The Company recognizes provisions for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations, including those associated with the reclamation of mineral properties and mineral assets under PPE, when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of the assets. Initially, a provision for a decommissioning liability (also referred to as an asset retirement obligation) is recognized as its present value in the period in which it is incurred. Upon initial recognition of the liability, a corresponding amount is added to the carrying amount of the related asset and the cost is amortized as an expense over the economic life of the asset using either the unit-of-production method or the straight-line method, as appropriate. Following the initial recognition of the decommissioning liability, the carrying amount of the liability is increased for the passage of time and adjusted for changes to the current market-based discount rate and the amount or timing of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.12 Share-based payments

#### Share-based payment transactions

Employees (including directors and senior executives) of the Company receive a portion of their remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments ("equity-settled transactions").

In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at fair value of the share-based payment. Otherwise, share-based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services received.

#### **Equity-settled transactions**

The costs of equity-settled transactions with employees are measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which the awards are granted.

The costs of equity-settled transactions are recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award ("the vesting date"). The cumulative expense is recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the Company's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The profit or loss charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period and the corresponding amount is represented in share option reserve. No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as if the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognized for any modification which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.13 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax.

#### Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

#### Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences, at the end of each reporting period, between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.13 Taxation (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except:

- where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the statement of comprehensive income.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if, and only if, a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to either settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or recovered.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.14 Financial assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the following four categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, loans-and-receivables or at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL").

Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized through profit and loss.

Financial assets classified as loans-and-receivables and held-to-maturity are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) except for losses in value that are considered other than temporary or a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost.

Transactions costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.15 Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as FVTPL or other-financial-liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as other-financial-liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other-financial-liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held-for-trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Transaction costs on financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are expensed as incurred. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.16 Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether a financial asset is impaired.

#### Assets carried at amortized cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is then reduced by the amount of the impairment. The amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment is made and an impairment loss is recognized in profit and loss when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Company will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are written off against the allowance account when they are assessed as uncollectible.

#### Available for sale

If an available for sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to profit or loss. Reversals in respect of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognized in profit or loss.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.17 Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized directly in equity is recognized in profit or loss.

For financial liabilities, they are derecognized when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

#### 3.18 Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is an indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belong.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

## 3.19 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand, and short term money market instruments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily convertible into a known amount of cash.

#### 3.20 Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of consideration received and receivable that are derived from the sales of coal. Sales revenues are recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the buyer, collection is reasonably assured and the price is reasonably determinable. The revenue from sales of coal in the ordinary course of business is recognized when coal is either loaded onto a truck or when it is unloaded at the final destination or depending on the terms of the contract.

#### 3.21 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) that has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

#### 3.22 Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control, related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### 3.23 Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments and estimates and form assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management uses historical experience and various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the given circumstances as the basis for its judgments and estimates. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

The most significant estimates relate to valuation of embedded derivatives and determination of their expected life; decommissioning liabilities; property, plant and equipment, including coal reserves and resources, depreciation and depletion; recoverability of trade and other receivables, inventory valuation; valuation of deferred income tax amounts, impairment testing and the calculation of share-based payments.

The most significant judgments relate to recoverability of capitalized amounts, accounting for stripping costs, recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities, accounting for long-term investments, determination of the commencement of commercial production and the determination of the economic viability of a project.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 4. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

At December 31, 2010, the Company has one reportable operating segment, being the Mongolian Coal Division. In prior periods, the Company's Indonesia Coal Division was a segment of the Company (Note 5).

An operating segment is defined as a component of the Company:

- that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;
- whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity's chief operating decision maker; and
- for which discrete financial information is available.

For the Mongolian Coal Division, the Company receives discrete financial information that is used by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance. The division is principally engaged in coal mining, development and exploration in Mongolia. As at December 31, 2010, the Mongolian Coal Division has achieved commercial production and is earning revenue through the sale of coal to external customers.

The Company's Corporate Division only earns revenues that are considered incidental to the activities of the Company and therefore does not meet the definition of an operating segment as defined in IFRS 8 'Operating Segments'.

At December 31, 2010, the Mongolian Coal Division had four active customers with the largest customer accounting for 73% of trade receivables and the other customers accounting for the remaining 27% of trade receivables.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the largest customer accounted for 57% of revenues, the second largest customer accounted for 40% of revenue and the other customers accounted for the remaining 3% of revenue.

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 4. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of segment assets, segment liabilities and reported segment profit or loss, revenues, depreciation and depletion expense and impairment charge on assets analyzed by operating segment and reconciled to the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements:

	longolian al Division	Discontinued Operations <sup>(i)</sup>						Una	Unallocated <sup>(ii)</sup>		nsolidated Total
Segment assets											
As at December 31, 2010	\$ 342,591	\$	-	\$	619,275	\$	961,866				
As at December 31, 2009	129,454		-		431,230		560,684				
Segment liabilities											
As at December 31, 2010	\$ 25,408	\$	-	\$	257,568	\$	282,976				
As at December 31, 2009	7,300		-		556,176		563,476				
Segment income/(losses)											
For the year ended December 31, 2010	\$ (20,022)	\$	-	\$	(96,173)	\$	(116,195)				
For the year ended December 31, 2009	6,203		(31,088)		(85,920)		(110,805)				
Segment revenues											
For the year ended December 31, 2010	\$ 79,777	\$	-	\$	-	\$	79,777				
For the year ended December 31, 2009	36,038		-		-		36,038				
Capital expenditures											
For the year ended December 31, 2010	\$ 199,354	\$	-	\$	416	\$	199,770				
For the year ended December 31, 2009	35,706		6,511		64		42,281				
Depreciation and depletion expense											
For the year ended December 31, 2010	\$ 13,148	\$	-	\$	71	\$	13,219				
For the year ended December 31, 2009	5,837		-		19		5,856				
Impairment charge on assets (iii)(iv)											
For the year ended December 31, 2010	\$ 7,584	\$	-	\$	-	\$	7,584				
For the year ended December 31, 2009	-		15,135		-		15,135				

<sup>(</sup>i) The Indonesian Coal Division was treated as discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 (Note 5)

<sup>(</sup>ii) The unallocated amount contains all amounts associated with the Corporate Division

<sup>(</sup>iii) The impairment charge in the year ended December 31, 2010 relates to inventory (Note 15) and property, plant and equipment (Note 17)

<sup>(</sup>iv) The impairment charge in the year ended December 31, 2009 relates to the Indonesian Coal Division (Note 5)

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 4. **SEGMENTED INFORMATION (Continued)**

At December 31, 2010, the Company operates in three geographical areas, being Canada, Hong Kong and Mongolia. Prior to December 23, 2009, the Company had operations in Indonesia (Note 5). The following is an analysis of the revenues and non-current assets by geographical area and reconciled to the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements:

Revenues	 Mongolia	Hon	g Kong	 Canada	Cor	nsolidated Total
For the year ended December 31, 2010	\$ 79,777	\$	-	\$ -	\$	79,777
For the year ended December 31, 2009	36,038		-	-		36,038
Non-current assets						
As at December 31, 2010	\$ 277,201	\$	401	\$ 108,265	\$	385,867
As at December 31, 2009	89,587		49	61,876		151,512

#### 5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Company sold the Indonesia Coal Division, which was composed entirely of the Mamahak Coal Project ("Mamahak"), effective December 15, 2009. The Company divested its 85% interest in Mamahak to Kangaroo Resources Limited ("Kangaroo") for consideration comprising of \$1 million in cash and 50 million shares of Kangaroo with a fair value of \$8,776. Kangaroo is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX: KRL). The transaction was completed on December 23, 2009 and the Company incurred transaction costs of \$1 million related to the disposition of Mamahak. As a result of this transaction, the Company held 6.7% of the outstanding shares in Kangaroo on the closing date of the transaction and those shares were subject to a twelve month lock-up.

The Company disclosed Mamahak as a discontinued operation in the year ended December 31, 2009. The losses from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 were \$31,088. Included in the losses from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 was an impairment charge of \$15,135.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 6. COST OF SALES

The cost of sales for the Company is broken down as follows:

	Year ended December 31,					
		2010		2009		
Operating expenses	\$	56,850	\$	23,611		
Depreciation and depletion		13,054		5,814		
Impairment of inventories (Note 15)		5,751		-		
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 17)		1,833		-		
Cost of sales	\$	77,488	\$	29,425		

#### 7. ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

The administration expenses for the Company are broken down as follows:

	Year ended December 31,					
		2010		2009		
Corporate administration	\$	6,020	\$	2,839		
Legal		957		912		
Professional fees		2,795		3,159		
Listing fees		-		2,470		
Salaries and benefits		15,548		14,024		
Sustainability and community relations		718		-		
Public infrastructure		5,952		-		
Depreciation		118		19		
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss		(1,611)		1,112		
Administration expenses	\$	30,497	\$	24,535		

## **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 8. EVALUATION AND EXPLORATION EXPENSES

The evaluation and exploration expenses for the Company are broken down as follows:

	Year ended December 31,				
		2010		2009	
				·	
Assaying	\$	341	\$	273	
Drilling and trenching		11,705		2,283	
Geological		876		351	
Geophysics		1,697		193	
Surveying		108		14	
License fees		1,223		1,543	
Depreciation		47		23	
Salaries		1,051		64	
Overhead		1,721		655	
Evaluation and exploration expenses	\$	18,769	\$	5,399	

#### 9. FINANCE COSTS AND INCOME

The finance costs for the Company are broken down as follows:

	Year ended December 31,					
		2010		2009		
Loss on partial conversion of convertible debenture (Note 20)	\$	151,353	\$	-		
Fair value loss on embedded derivatives in convertible						
debenture (Note 20)		-		44,980		
Interest expense on convertible debenture (Note 20)		24,294		7,684		
Transaction costs on issuance of convertible debenture (Note 20)		-		9,399		
Interest expense on line of credit facility (Note 19)		131		1,651		
Accretion of decommissioning liability		77		40		
Finance costs	\$	175,855	\$	63,754		

## **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

## 9. FINANCE COSTS AND INCOME (Continued)

The finance income for the Company is broken down as follows:

	Year ended December 31,				
	2010		2009		
Fair value gain on embedded derivatives in convertible debenture (Note 20)  Mark to market gain on investments (Note 14)  Interest income	\$	100,637 870 2,441	\$	- 843 77	
Finance income	\$	103,948	\$	920	

#### 10. TAXES

The Company and its subsidiaries in Canada are subject to Canadian federal and provincial tax for the estimated assessable profit for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 at a rate of 28.5% and 30%, respectively. The Company had no assessable profit in Canada for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The Company's subsidiaries in Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong profits tax for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 at a rate of 16.5%. No Hong Kong profits tax was provided for as the Company had no assessable profit arising in or derived from Hong Kong in the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The Company's subsidiaries in Mongolia are subject to Mongolian income tax for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 at a rate of 25%. In the year ended December 31, 2010 the Company recorded a current income tax charge of \$1,806 (2009: \$509) related to assessable profit derived from Mongolia.

Taxation from other relevant jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in each of those jurisdictions respectively.

## **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 10. TAXES (Continued)

# 10.1 Income tax recognized in profit or loss

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010			2009
Current Tax				
Current tax expense in respect of the current year	\$	1,806	\$	509
Deferred Tax				
Deferred tax recovery recognized in the current year		(4,495)		(6,947)
Total income tax recovery recognized in the current year				
related to continuing operations	\$	(2,689)	\$	(6,438)

The tax recovery for the Company can be reconciled to the loss for the year per the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010			2009
Loss from continuing operations before tax	\$	118,884	\$	86,155
Statutory tax rate		28.50%		30.00%
Recovery of income taxes based on combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory rates Deduct:		(33,882)		(25,847)
Lower effective tax rate in foreign jurisdictions		1,905		463
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary differences not recognized		2,789		1,937
Non-deductible expenses		24,708		14,160
Effect of change in future tax rates		1,791		2,849
Tax recovery for the year	\$	(2,689)	\$	(6,438)

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 10. TAXES (Continued)

#### 10.2 Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010		0 200	
Deferred Tax				
Fair value remeasurement of available-for-sale assets	\$	(3,966)	\$	-
Total income tax recovery recognized in the current year				
in other comprehensive income	\$	(3,966)	\$	-

#### 10.3 Deferred tax balances

The Company's deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are broken down as follows:

	As at December 31,			
	2010		2009	
Deferred tax assets	\$	11,442	\$	6,947
Deferred tax liabilities		(3,966)		-
Deferred tax balances	\$	7,476	\$	6,947

The Company's deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are attributable to the following items:

	As at December 31,			
	2010		2009	
Toulogo como formando	¢	0 515	ď	F 702
Tax loss carry-forwards	\$	8,515	\$	5,793
Property, plant and equipment		2,880		1,135
Other assets		47		19
Available-for-sale financial assets		(3,966)		-
Deferred tax balances	\$	7,476	\$	6,947

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

## 10. TAXES (Continued)

### 10.4 Unrecognized deferred tax assets

The Company's unrecognized deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses are attributable to the following items:

	As at December 31,			
	2010		10 2009	
Non-capital losses	\$	18,952	\$	8,701
Capital losses		3,168		4,183
Deductible temporary differences		5,369		11,815
Deferred tax balances	\$	27,489	\$	24,699

#### 10.5 Expiry dates

The Company's recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets related to unused tax losses have the following expiry dates:

	_	As at December 31, 2010							
		Local	U.S. Dollar	Expiry					
	_	currency	Equivalent	dates					
Non-capital losses									
Canadian Dollar	Cdn\$	71,451	\$ 71,065	2011 - 2030					
Mongolian Tugrik	MNT	42,793,003	34,058	2011 - 2021					
Hong Kong Dollar	HK\$	46,127	5,953	indefinite					
Singapore Dollar	SG\$	75	58	indefinite					
			\$ 111,134						
Capital losses				_					
Canadian Dollar	Cdn\$	25,211	\$ 25,075	indefinite					

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 11. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on the following data:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010			2009
Net loss from continuing operations for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share	\$	116,195	\$	79,717
Net loss from discontinued operations for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share	\$	-	\$	31,088
Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share		176,529		133,499

The basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution of common share equivalents, such as outstanding stock options, share purchase warrants and convertible debentures, in the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, if dilutive. All of the stock options and the convertible debenture were anti-dilutive for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

#### 12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents of the Company are comprised of bank balances and short term money market instruments with an original maturity of three months or less. The Company's bank balances and cash equivalents carry prevailing market interest rates which ranged from 0% to 0.35% as at December 31, 2010. The Company's cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

	As at December 31,			
	2010		2009	
Denominated in U.S. dollars	\$	486,404	\$	357,163
Denominated in Hong Kong dollars		3,666		263
Denominated in Canadian dollars		1,182		(136)
Others		786		52
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	492,038	\$	357,342

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Company's trade and other receivables arise from two main sources: trade receivables due from customers for coal sales and value added tax ("VAT") and goods and services tax ("GST") receivable due from various government taxation authorities. These are broken down as follows:

	As at December 31,				
		2010	2009		
Trade receivables	\$	15,297	\$	5,200	
VAT/GST receivable		14,541		7,029	
Other receivables		408		99	
Total trade and other receivables	\$	30,246	\$	12,328	

Below is an aged analysis of the Company's trade and other receivables:

	 As at December 31,				
	2010		2009		
Less than 1 month	\$ 15,604	\$	5,730		
1 to 3 months	1,869		3,463		
3 to 6 months	2,600		2,613		
Over 6 months	10,173		522		
Total trade and other receivables	\$ 30,246	\$	12,328		

At December 31, 2010, 99% of the trade and other receivables that were outstanding over one month are VAT/GST receivables and 100% of the trade and other receivables that were outstanding over six months are VAT/GST receivables. The Company anticipates full recovery of these amounts and therefore no impairment has been recorded against these receivables. The credit risk on the VAT/GST receivable has been further discussed in Note 27.

The Company holds no collateral for any receivable amounts outstanding as at December 31, 2010.

Included in trade and other receivables of the Company are amounts due from related parties which are disclosed in Note 28. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable upon written notice given from the Company.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 14. INVESTMENTS

The Company's investments are broken down as follows:

	As at December 31,				
	 2010		2009		
Short term investments			_		
Money market investments (i)	\$ 17,529	\$	14,999		
Long term investments					
Investment in Kangaroo	10,235		9,876		
Investment in Aspire	52,008		-		
Money market investments (ii)	45,173		47,194		
	107,416		57,070		
Total short and long term investments	\$ 124,945	\$	72,069		

- (i) Money market investments with maturities greater than ninety days and less than one year
- (ii) Money market investments with maturities greater than one year

The Company has classified its investment in Kangaroo (Note 5) as FVTPL with any change in value being recognized through profit and loss. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recognized an unrealized gain of \$360 related to its investment in Kangaroo (2009: \$1,099).

On December 23, 2010, the Company announced it had completed a private placement with Aspire Mining Limited ("Aspire"). Aspire is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX: AKM). Pursuant to the private placement, the Company acquired 105,860 shares at A\$0.19 per share for an aggregate purchase price of \$20,281. After giving effect to the transaction, the Company owns approximately 19.9% of Aspire. The Company has the right to nominate one member to the board of directors of Aspire and the right to maintain its proportionate 19.9% shareholding of Aspire for a period of two years.

The Company has classified its investment in Aspire as an available-for-sale financial asset. The Company has not treated Aspire as an associate because the Company does not have significant influence over Aspire and it is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recognized an unrealized gain of \$27,761, net of tax, in other comprehensive income related to its investment in Aspire (2009: \$nil).

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 15. INVENTORIES

The Company's inventories are broken down as follows:

	As at December 31,			
	2010			2009
Stockpiles (i)	\$	2,395	\$	9,553
Materials and supplies		23,765		6,831
Total inventories	\$	26,160	\$	16,384

<sup>(</sup>i) Coal inventories are stated at the lower of production cost and net realizable value

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense during the year ended December 31, 2010 is \$69,842 (2009: \$22,035).

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense during the year ended December 31, 2010 included \$5,246 (2009: \$nil) in impairments of stockpile inventory and \$505 (2009: \$nil) in impairments of materials and supplies inventory to their respective net realizable values. As at December 31, 2010, the Company anticipates the entire stockpile balance of \$2,395 will be realized within twelve months.

### 16. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEPOSITS

The Company's prepaid expenses and deposits are broken down as follows:

	As at December 31,				
		2010	2009		
Security deposits	\$	913	\$	619	
Insurance		933		557	
Prepaid exploration license costs		832		1,023	
Prepaid income taxes		-		3,109	
Vendor pre-payments		7,209		2,683	
Other		139		128	
Total prepaid expenses and deposits	\$	10,026	\$	8,119	

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Company's property, plant and equipment is broken down as follows:

	Mobile	Co	mputer	Fu	rniture and	M	achinery and	Bu	ildings and	M	lineral	Coı	nstruction in		
	equipment		ipment	fi	xtures	eq	uipment	1	oads		ssets	r	rogress		Total
Cost			-												
As at January 1, 2009	\$ 38,544	\$	526	\$	93	\$	2,211	\$	433	\$	3,422	\$	11,411	\$	56,640
Additions	28,900		98		409		538		1,663		5,669		6,225		43,502
Disposals	(756)		(37)		(7)		(125)		-		-		(7)		(932)
Sale of Indonesia Coal Division	-		-		-		-		(1,820)		(3,006)		(2,738)		(7,564)
Reclassifications	-		-		4		598		13,318		-		(13,920)		-
As at December 31, 2009	66,688		587		499		3,222		13,594		6,085		971		91,646
Additions	156,462		278		856		1,840		655	3	31,969		15,398	2	207,458
Disposals	(5,948)		-		(5)		(13)		-		-		-		(5,966)
Reclassifications	231		-		-		-		-		-		(231)		-
As at December 31, 2010	\$217,433	\$	865	\$	1,350	\$	5,049	<b>\$</b> 1	14,249	\$ 3	38,054	\$	16,138	\$2	93,138
Accumulated depreciation and	l impairment														
As at January 1, 2009	\$ (3,584)	\$	(257)	\$	(19)	\$	(178)	\$	(77)	\$	(85)	\$	-	\$	(4,200)
Charge for the year	(4,003)		(76)		(57)		(405)		(834)		(85)		-		(5,460)
Eliminated on disposals	613		34		4		-		-		-		-		651
Sale of Indonesia Coal Division	-		-		-		-		28		40		-		68
As at December 31, 2009	(6,974)		(299)		(72)		(583)		(883)		(130)		-		(8,941)
Charge for the year	(13,642)		(119)		(188)		(800)		(1,790)		(597)		-		(17,136)
Impairment charges	(1,833)		-		-		-		-		-		-		(1,833)
Eliminated on disposals	1,534		-		2		7		-		-		-		1,543
As at December 31, 2010	\$ (20,915)	\$	(418)	\$	(258)	\$	(1,376)	\$	(2,673)	\$	(727)	\$	-	\$	(26,367)
Net book value															
As at December 31, 2009	\$ 59,714	\$	288	\$	427	\$	2,639	\$	12,711	\$	5,955	\$	971	\$	82,705
As at December 31, 2010	\$196,518	\$	447	\$	1,092	\$	3,673	<b>\$</b> 1	11,576	\$ 3	37,327	\$	16,138	\$2	266,771

In the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company capitalized interest of \$602 (2009: \$nil) into construction in progress.

In the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded an impairment charge of \$1,833 (2009: \$nil) related to certain Mobile equipment. The Company has decided to replace its Liebherr 994 shovel to increase fleet flexibility and has therefore recorded an impairment charge to reduce its net book value to its recoverable amount.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables of the Company are principally comprised of amounts outstanding for trade purchases relating to coal mining and exploration activities and amounts payable for financing activities. The usual credit period taken for trade purchases is between 30 to 90 days.

The following is an aged analysis of the trade and other payables:

	As at December 31,				
	2010			2009	
Less than 1 month	\$	24,006	\$	9,630	
1 to 3 months	Ψ	33	Ψ	892	
3 to 6 months		72		705	
Over 6 months		26		1,442	
Total trade and other payables	\$	24,137	\$	12,669	

Included in trade and other payables are amounts due to related parties which are disclosed in Note 28.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 19. LINE OF CREDIT FACILITY

On December 18, 2009, the Company established a line of credit facility with Golomt Bank in Mongolia. The line of credit facility was a twelve month revolving line of credit facility with a maximum draw-down available of \$3,000. The facility bore interest at 13% per annum and was secured by equipment in Mongolia to a value of not less than 150% of the total facility amount. On December 18, 2010, the line of credit facility was extended to January 18, 2011. On January 18, 2011 the Company signed a new revolving line of credit facility with Golomt Bank for a twelve month period. Under the new agreement, the maximum draw-down available is \$3,500 and MNT8.1 Billion (approximately \$6,500) and bears interest at 11% for any U.S. Dollar amounts outstanding and 12% for any Mongolia Tugrik amounts outstanding. The line of credit is secured by equipment in Mongolia to a value of not less than 150% of the total facility amount.

The line of credit facility is used by the Company's Mongolian subsidiaries as part of their working capital management. As at December 31, 2010, the Company had no amounts outstanding under the line of credit facility.

The movement of the amounts due under the line of credit facility is as follows:

	Year ended December 31,				
	2010			2009	
Balance, beginning of year	\$	3,009	\$	_	
Amounts advanced	·	46,700	·	3,000	
Interest expense		131		9	
Repayment of principal amounts		(49,700)		-	
Interest paid		(140)		-	
Balance, end of year	\$	-	\$	3,009	

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 20. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE

On November 19, 2009, the Company issued a convertible debenture to a wholly owned subsidiary of the China Investment Corporation ("CIC") for \$500,000, which is secured and bears interest at 8.0% with a maximum term of 30 years. The financing is required primarily to support the accelerated investment program in Mongolia and up to \$120,000 of the financing may also be used for working capital, repayment of debt due on funding, general and administrative expense and other general corporate purposes.

The key commercial terms of the financing include:

- Interest 8% per annum (6.4% payable semi-annually in cash and 1.6% payable annually in the Company's shares, where the number of shares to be issued is calculated based on the 50-day volume-weighted average price ("VWAP").
- Term Maximum of 30 years.
- Security First charge over the Company's assets, including shares of its material subsidiaries.
- Conversion price The conversion price is set as the lower of Cdn\$11.88 or the 50-day VWAP at the date of conversion, with a floor price of Cdn\$8.88 per share.
- Conversion timing The Company and CIC each have various rights to call conversion of the debenture into common shares. CIC has the right to convert the debenture, in whole or in part, into common shares twelve months after the date of issue. The Company has the right to call for the conversion of up to \$250 million of the debenture on the earlier of twenty four months after the issue date, if the conversion price is greater than Cdn\$10.66, or upon the Company achieving a public float of 25% of its common shares under certain agreed circumstances, if the conversion price is greater than Cdn\$10.66.
- Company's normal conversion right After sixty months from the issuance date, at any time that the conversion price is greater than Cdn\$10.66, the Company will be entitled to require conversion of the outstanding convertible debenture, in whole or in part, into common shares at the conversion price.
- Representation on the Company's Board While the debenture loan is outstanding, or while CIC has a minimum 15% direct or indirect stake in the Company, CIC has the right to nominate one director to the Company's Board. The Company currently has eight Board members.
- Voting restriction CIC has agreed that it will not have any voting rights in the Company beyond 29.9% if CIC ever acquires ownership of such a shareholder stake through exercising the debenture.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 20. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE (Continued)

The key commercial terms of the financing include (continued):

- Pre-emption rights While the debenture loan is outstanding, or while CIC has a 15% direct or indirect stake in the Company, CIC has certain pre-emption rights on a pro-rata basis to subscribe for any new shares to be allotted and issued by the Company for the period which the debenture is outstanding. The pre-emption rights will not apply to new shares issued pursuant to pro-rata public equity offerings made to all shareholders, exercise of stock options and shares issued to achieve a 25% public float.
- Right of first offer While a portion of the debenture is outstanding, or while CIC has a 15% direct or indirect stake in the Company, CIC has the right of first offer for any direct and indirect sale of Ivanhoe's ownership stake in the Company. At December 31, 2010 Ivanhoe owned directly and indirectly approximately 57% of the Company's issued and outstanding shares.
- Registration Rights CIC has registration rights under applicable Canadian provincial securities laws in connection with the common shares issuable upon conversion of the debenture.

The Company identified that the convertible debenture is a debt host contract to be presented as a liability and contains no equity components. The Company also concluded that the convertible debenture is a hybrid instrument, containing a debt host component and three embedded derivatives - the investor's conversion option, the issuer's conversion option and the equity based interest payment provision (the 1.6% share interest payment) (the "embedded derivatives"). The debt host component is classified as other-financial-liabilities and is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and the embedded derivatives are classified as FVTPL and all changes in fair value are recorded in income. The difference between the debt host component and the principal amount of the loan outstanding will be accreted to income over the expected life of the convertible debenture.

The embedded derivative was valued upon initial measurement and subsequent periods using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model. A Monte Carlo simulation model is a valuation model that relies on random sampling and is often used when modeling systems with a large number of inputs and where there is significant uncertainty in the future value of inputs and where the movement of the inputs can be independent of each other. Some of the key inputs used by the Company in its Monte Carlo simulation included: the floor and ceiling conversion prices, the risk-free rate of return, expected volatility of the stock price, forward foreign exchange rate curves (between the Cdn\$ and U.S.\$) and spot foreign exchange rates.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 20. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE (Continued)

Based on the Company's valuation as at November 19, 2009, the closing date of the convertible debenture, the value of the embedded derivatives was \$313,292 and the value of the debt component was \$186,708. The transaction costs of \$15,000 were applied on a pro-rata basis to the debt host and embedded derivatives and transaction costs of \$9,399 associated with the embedded derivatives were expensed as financing costs and transaction costs of \$5,601 associated with the debt host were netted against the debt host component.

Pursuant to the debenture conversion terms, the Company had the right to call for the conversion of up to \$250,000 of the debenture upon achieving a public float of 25% of its common shares based on a conversion price of the lower of Cdn\$11.88 and the 50-day volume-weighted average price ("VWAP"). On March 29, 2010, the Company exercised this right and completed the conversion of \$250,000 of the convertible debenture into 21,471 shares at a conversion price of \$11.64 (Cdn\$11.88). On March 29, 2010, the Company also settled the accrued interest payable in shares on the converted \$250,000 by issuing 90 shares for the \$1,436 in accrued interest converted at the 50-day VWAP conversion price of \$15.97 (Cdn\$16.29). On April 1, 2010, the Company also settled the outstanding accrued interest payable in cash on the converted debt of \$250,000 with a cash payment of \$5,742.

The fair value of the shares issued upon the partial conversion, based on their market value, was \$347,643 compared to the carrying value of the debt host and embedded derivatives associated with the debt that was converted of \$196,290. The difference of \$151,353 was recognized in finance costs as a loss upon partial conversion during the year ended December 31, 2010.

Based on the Company's valuations as at December 31, 2010, the fair value of the embedded derivatives decreased by \$100,637 compared to December 31, 2009. This decrease was recorded as a gain in finance income for the year ended December 31, 2010.

In the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company also recorded an interest expense of \$24,294 (2009: \$7,684) related to the convertible debenture. The interest expense is composed of the interest at the contract rate and the accretion of the debt host component of the convertible debenture. To calculate the interest expense, the Company has used the contract life of 30 years and an effective interest rate of 22.2%.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 20. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE (Continued)

The movement of the amounts due under the convertible debenture are as follows:

	Year ended December 31,				
		2010		2009	
Balance, beginning of year	\$	547,063	\$	-	
Amounts advanced		-		500,000	
Transaction costs		-		(5,601)	
Interest expense on convertible debenture		24,896		7,684	
Fair value (gain)/loss on embedded derivatives		(100,637)		44,980	
Loss on conversion of convertible debenture		151,353		-	
Conversion of convertible debenture		(347,643)		-	
Interest paid		(23,222)		-	
Balance, end of the year	\$	251,810	\$	547,063	

The amounts due under the convertible debenture are further broken down as follows:

	As at December 31,			
		2010		2009
Debt host	\$	90,621	\$	184,079
Fair value of embedded derivatives		154,877		358,272
Interest payable		6,312		4,712
Convertible debenture	\$	251,810	\$	547,063
FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION				
Current liabilities				
Current portion of convertible debenture	\$	6,312	\$	4,712
Non-current liabilities				
Convertible debenture		245,498		542,351
Convertible debenture	\$	251,810	\$	547,063

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 20. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE (Continued)

The assumptions used in the Company's valuation models as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

	As at December 31,			
	2010	2009		
Floor conversion price	Cdn\$8.88	Cdn\$8.88		
Ceiling conversion price	Cdn\$11.88	Cdn\$11.88		
Historical volatility	73%	75%		
Risk free rate of return	3.48%	4.09%		
Foreign exchange spot rate (U.S.\$ to Cdn\$)	1.01	0.96		
Forward foreign exchange rate curve (U.S.\$ to Cdn\$)	0.97 - 1.14	0.90 - 0.95		

### 21. DECOMMISSIONING LIABILITY

Reclamation and closure costs have been estimated based on the Company's interpretation of current regulatory requirements and have been measured at fair value. Fair value is determined based on the net present value of future cash expenditures upon reclamation and closure. Reclamation and closure costs are capitalized into PPE dependant on the nature of the asset related to the obligation and amortized over the life of the related asset.

At December 31, 2010, the decommissioning liability relates to reclamation and closure costs of the Company's Ovoot Tolgoi project in Mongolia.

The decommissioning liability at Ovoot Tolgoi is calculated as the net present value of estimated future net cash outflows of the reclamation and closure costs, which at December 31, 2010 total \$8,840 (2009: \$3,449) and are required to satisfy the obligations, discounted at 8% per annum (2009: 10.78% per annum). The settlement of the obligations will occur through to 2024.

The following is an analysis of the decommissioning liability:

	Year ended December 31,				
	2010		2009		
Balance, beginning of year	\$	735	\$	329	
Additions		2,251		366	
Accretion		77		40	
Balance, end of the year	\$	3,063	\$	735	

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 22. SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common and preferred shares with no par value. At December 31, 2010, the Company had 183,604 common shares outstanding (2009: 134,517) and no preferred shares outstanding (2009: nil).

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company repurchased 911 common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange and Hong Kong Stock Exchange (2009: nil) for an average price of \$11.37 per share. As at December 31, 2010, the Company had cancelled 792 of the 911 repurchased common shares. The remaining 119 common shares were cancelled in January 2011.

The weighted average share price during the year ended December 31, 2010 was Cdn\$13.72 (2009: Cdn\$12.09).

#### 23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

### 23.1 Stock option plan

The Company has a stock option plan which permits the Board of Directors of the Company to grant options to acquire common shares of the Company at the volume weighted average closing price for the five days preceding the date of grant. The Amended Equity Incentive Plan, approved on May 11, 2010, provides for a rolling rather than a fixed maximum number of common shares which may be issued pursuant to incentive stock options and other equity incentives, awards and issuances. The Compensation and Benefits Committee determines and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors as to the recipients of, and nature and size of, share-based compensation awards in compliance with applicable securities law, stock exchange and other regulatory requirements. The Company is authorized to issue options for a maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares pursuant to the stock option plan.

The stock option plan permits the Board of Directors of the Company to set the terms for each stock option grant, however, the general terms of stock options granted under the amended plan include a maximum exercise period of 5 years and a vesting period of 3 years with one-third of the grant vesting on the first anniversary of the grant, one-third vesting on the second anniversary of the grant and one-third vesting on the third anniversary of the grant. The options granted in the year ended December 31, 2010, were granted with a weighted average maximum exercise period of 5.00 years (2009: 5.95 years) and a weighted average vesting period of 1.88 years (2009: 1.82 vears).

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

# 23.1 Stock option plan (continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company granted 3,446 stock options (2009: 2,671) to officers, employees, directors and other eligible persons at exercise prices ranging from Cdn\$9.79 to Cdn\$15.09 (2009: Cdn\$7.94 to Cdn\$14.25) and expiry dates ranging from February 8, 2015 to November 15, 2015 (2009: May 6, 2014 to February 6, 2016). The weighted average fair value of the options granted in the year ended December 31, 2010, was estimated at \$5.83 (Cdn\$6.07) (2009: \$5.95, Cdn\$6.56) per option at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted average assumptions used for the calculation were:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010	2009		
Phil Constitution of the	1.000/	2.170/		
Risk free interest rate	1.99%	2.17%		
Expected life	3.4 years	3.6 years		
Expected volatility (i)	72.15%	79.54%		
Expected dividend per share	\$nil	\$nil		

(i) Expected volatility has been based on historical volatility of the Company's publicly traded shares

A share-based compensation cost of \$19,867 for the options granted in the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009: \$14,872) will be amortized over the vesting period, of which \$5,097 was recognized in the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009: \$5,125).

The total share-based compensation calculated for the year ended December 31, 2010 was \$13,260 (2009: \$12,535). Share-based compensation of \$10,820 (2009: \$10,471) has been allocated to Administration expenses, \$1,516 (2009: \$1,590) has been allocated to Cost of sales and \$924 (2009: \$474) has been allocated to Evaluation and exploration expenses.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

# 23.2 Outstanding stock options

The following is a summary of option transactions under the Company's stock option plan for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

	Year e	nde	d	Year ended				
	December	31,	2010	December	31,	2009		
		We	eighted		We	ighted		
		average exercise			av	erage		
	<b>Number of</b>			Number of	ex	ercise		
	options		price	options	1	orice		
		(	Cdn\$)		((	Cdn\$)		
Balance, beginning of year	7,254	\$	9.11	6,586	\$	7.18		
Options granted	3,446		12.48	2,671		11.13		
Options exercised	(1,099)		4.04	(1,324)		3.16		
Options forfeited	(325)		13.31	(679)		9.96		
Balance, end of year	9,276	\$	10.82	7,254	\$	9.11		

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2010:

	O <sub>]</sub>	ptions Outstand	ling	Options Exercisable			
		Weighted-	Weighted-		Weighted-	Weighted-	
		average	average	Options	average	average	
	Options	exercise	remaining	outstanding	exercise	remaining	
Exercise price	outstanding	price	contractual life	and exercisable	price	contractual life	
(Cdn\$)		(Cdn\$)	(years)		(Cdn\$)	(years)	
\$0.86 - \$2.85	184	\$ 2.10	0.47	184	\$ 2.10	0.47	
\$3.70 - \$6.00	1,883	5.55	2.15	1,561	5.64	1.99	
\$7.16 - \$10.21	1,669	9.11	4.31	689	8.61	3.99	
\$11.46 - \$13.80	4,488	12.69	4.10	784	12.96	3.05	
\$15.07 - \$18.86	1,052	16.48	2.87	573	16.83	2.57	
	9,276	\$ 10.82	3.53	3,791	\$ 9.21	2.59	

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 24. RESERVES

The reserves of the Company net of income tax are broken down as follows:

	As at December 31,			
	2010			2009
Share option reserve	\$	32,360	\$	22,300
Investment revaluation reserve		27,761		-
Total reserves	\$	60,121	\$	22,300

### 24.1 Share option reserve

The Company's share option reserve relates to share options granted by the Company to officers, employees, directors and other eligible persons under its stock option plan. Details about the Company's share-based payments are set out in Note 23.

The following is an analysis of the share option reserve:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010		010 2009	
Balance, beginning of year	\$	22,300	\$	12,775
Share-based compensation charged to operations		13,260		12,535
Exercise of share options		(3,200)		(3,010)
Balance, end of year	\$	32,360	\$	22,300

#### 24.2 Investment revaluation reserve

The Company's investment revaluation reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets that have been recognized in other comprehensive income.

The following is an analysis of the investment revaluation reserve:

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

	Y	Year ended December 31,				
		2010		2009		
Balance, beginning of year	\$	-	\$	-		
Gain arising on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets (Note 14)		31,727		_		
Income tax relating to gain arising on revaluation of		ŕ				
available-for-sale financial assets		(3,966)		-		
Balance, end of year	\$	27,761	\$	-		

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 25. ACCUMULATED DEFICIT AND DIVIDENDS

The Company has incurred losses since inception and at December 31, 2010, the Company has accumulated a deficit of \$442,791 (2009: \$321,511).

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company since inception.

#### 26. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company's objectives are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in order to support the Company's normal operating requirements, continue the development and exploration of its mineral properties and to maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the costs of capital at an acceptable risk.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, issue new debt, acquire or dispose of assets or adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents. In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares annual expenditure budgets that are updated as necessary depending on various factors, including capital deployment, results from operations, results from the exploration and development of its properties and general industry conditions. The annual and updated budgets are approved by the Board of Directors.

At December 31, 2010, the Company's capital structure consists of convertible debt (Note 20) and the equity of the Company (Note 22). The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. In order to maximize ongoing development efforts, the Company does not pay dividends.

In the year ended December 31, 2010, there were no significant changes in the processes used by the Company's or in the Company's objectives and policies for managing its capital. As at December 31, 2010, the Company's available capital resources, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, short-term money market investments and long-term money market investments, total \$554,740. As at December 31, 2010, the Company's total liabilities are \$282,976. The Company believes that sufficient capital resources are available to support further expansion and development of its mining assets.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted by the Company for each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 3 of the financial statements.

# 27.1 Categories of financial instruments

The Company's financial assets and financial liabilities are categorized as follows:

	As at December 31,			
	2010			2009
Financial assets				
Loans-and-receivables				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	492,038	\$	357,342
Trade and other receivables		30,246		12,328
Other receivables		238		225
Available-for-sale				
Investment in Aspire (Note 14)		52,008		-
Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)				
Investment in Kangaroo (Note 14)		10,235		9,876
Money market investments (Note 14)		62,702		62,193
Total financial assets	\$	647,467	\$	441,964
Financial liabilities				
Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)				
Convertible debenture - embedded derivatives	\$	154,877	\$	358,272
Other-financial-liabilities				
Trade and other payables		24,137		12,669
Amounts due under line of credit facilities		-		3,009
Convertible debenture - debt host		96,933		188,791
Total financial liabilities	\$	275,947	\$	562,741

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

#### 27.2 Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis or using prices from observable current market transactions. The Company considers that the carrying amount of all its financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost in the financial statements approximates their fair value.

The fair values of the Company's financial instruments classified as FVTPL or available-forsale are determined as follows:

- The fair value of financial instruments that are traded on an active liquid market are determined with reference to the quoted market prices. The fair value of the Company's investment in the shares of Kangaroo, shares of Aspire and its money market investments were determined using this methodology.
- The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined using generally accepted valuation models using inputs that are directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) observable. The fair value of the embedded derivatives within the convertible debenture (Note 20) were determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. None of the fair value change on the embedded derivatives for the year ended December 31, 2010 is related to a change in the credit risk of the convertible debenture. All of the change in fair value is associated with changes in market conditions.

The fair value of all the other financial instruments of the Company approximates their carrying value because of the demand nature or short-term maturity of these instruments.

The following table provides an analysis of the Company's financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the inputs used to determine the fair value are observable.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable either directly or indirectly.
- Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable market data. As at December 31, 2010, the Company does not have any Level 3 financial instruments.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

### 27.2 Fair value (continued)

	Level 1	Level 2	Total		
Financial assets at fair value					
Investment in Aspire	\$ 52,008	\$ -	\$	52,008	
Investment in Kangaroo	10,235	-		10,235	
Money market investments	62,702	-		62,702	
Total financial assets at fair value	\$ 124,945	\$ -	\$	124,945	
Financial liabilities at fair value					
Convertible debenture - embedded derivatives	\$ •	\$ 154,877	\$	154,877	
Total financial liabilities at fair value	\$ -	\$ 154,877	\$	154,877	

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the year ended December 31, 2010.

# 27.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The financial risk arising from the Company's operations are currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and commodity price risk. These risks arise from the normal course of operations and all transactions undertaken are to support the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

### Currency risk

The Company's borrowings, major operating expenses and acquisition costs are denominated in U.S. dollars and a minor portion of the expenses of the Company are in Canadian dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The Company's corporate office is based in Canada and the exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arise mainly on foreign currencies against the functional currency of the relevant Company entities which is the U.S. dollar. The Company does not have any significant foreign currency denominated monetary liabilities.

The Company has not entered into any derivative instruments to manage foreign exchange fluctuations; however, management monitors foreign exchange exposure.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

### 27.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Company's foreign currency denominated monetary assets are as follows:

	As at December 31,			
		2010	2009	
Assets				_
Canadian Dollars (Cdn\$)	\$	1,182	\$	(136)
Hong Kong Dollars (HK\$)		3,666		262
Australian Dollars (A\$)		639		-
Mongolian Tugriks (MNT)		147		53
	\$	5,634	\$	179

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Company's sensitivity to a 5% increase or decrease in the U.S. dollar against the foreign currency denominated monetary items in the preceding table. 5% represents management's assessment of the reasonable possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number indicates a decrease in loss for the year where the foreign currencies strengthen against the U.S. dollar. The opposite number will result if the foreign currencies depreciate against the U.S. dollar.

	As at December 31,					
	2	2010		2009		
Decrease in						
Loss for the year	\$	282	\$		9	

#### Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest earned on some of its short and long term money market investments. The fair value interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is insignificant as the deposits are either short-term or pay interest at rates of 1.0% or less.

The Company has not entered into any derivative instruments to manage interest rate fluctuations, however, management closely monitors interest rate exposure and the risk exposure is limited.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

# 27.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Company's sensitivity to a 50 basis points increase or decrease in the interest rate earned on the Company's money market investments with floating rates of return. 50 basis points represents management's assessment of the reasonable possible change in earned interest rates. The sensitivity analysis assumes the financial instruments outstanding at the end of each reporting period were outstanding throughout the whole year. A positive number indicates an increase in the loss for the year where the interest rate has decreased, while the opposite number will result if the interest rate increased.

	As at December 31,				
		2010	2009		
Decrease in					
Loss for the year	\$	87	\$	8	7

#### Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk for the Company is primarily associated with trade receivables, value added tax ("VAT") receivable, goods and services tax ("GST") receivable and cash equivalents and short and long term money market investments.

The credit risk on trade receivables is managed through an internal process whereby any potential customer is investigated before a sales contract is signed. Risk is further mitigated as the payment terms for all customers range from 10 days to 14 days, which allows the Company to actively monitor the amounts owed by customers and identify any credit risks in a timely manner and reduce the risk of a credit related loss. In addition, the Company reviews the recoverable amount of its receivables at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for unrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Company considers that the credit risk associated with trade receivables is significantly reduced.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

# 27.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The VAT/GST receivable includes amounts that have been accumulated to date in various subsidiaries. At December 31, 2010, 99% of the VAT/GST receivable was due from the Mongolian Government Taxation Authority. As per Mongolia tax laws, a tax payer may offset future taxes and royalties payable to the Government against VAT amounts receivable from the Government.

The Company had previously reported that in July 2009, the Mongolia Tax Laws were amended to preclude producers and exporters of unfinished mineral products from claiming back VAT, however the Mongolian Government had not defined what products would qualify as finished mineral products. Effective November 10, 2010, the Mongolian Government defined the list of finished mineral products and the Company's current coal products do not qualify as finished mineral products. Therefore, as of November 10, 2010, the Company no longer qualifies to receive any VAT refunds, the application of this law is prospective and any amounts accumulated until November 9, 2010 are still refundable. Any amounts paid for VAT from November 10, 2010 onwards have either been expensed directly through profit or loss or capitalized as part of the related asset. Verification by the Mongolian Government Taxation Authority of the collectability of the funds is conducted on an annual basis and any outstanding VAT receivable amounts at December 31, 2010 will be available to the Company to offset future taxes and royalties or will be refunded by the Mongolian Government Taxation Authority.

With the completion of the Company's previously announced coal handling facility the Company is confident its coal products will qualify for VAT and from that point forward the Company will once again be eligible to reclaim any paid VAT amounts. The coal handling facility is scheduled to be commissioned by the end of 2011.

The credit risk on cash equivalents is limited because the cash equivalents and short and long term money market investments are composed of money market investments issued by banks and other institutions with high credit ratings as assigned by international creditrating agencies.

The Company is not exposed to significant credit risk and overall the Company's credit risk has not changed significantly during the year ended December 31, 2010.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

# 27.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

#### Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to settle or manage its obligations associated with financial liabilities. In the management of liquidity risk, the Company maintains a balance between continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use of borrowings. Management closely monitors the liquidity position and expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the Company's projects and operations. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into account the Company cash reserves and external financial resources, the Company has sufficient working capital for its present obligations, that is for at least the next twelve months commencing from December 31, 2010.

The following table details the Company's current and expected remaining contractual maturities for its financial liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The table is based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company can be required to satisfy the liabilities.

		0 to 6		to 12	۸.	_	m . 1
	<u>n</u>	nonths	n	nonths	hs 1 to 5 years		 Total
As at December 31, 2010							
Trade and other payables	\$	24,137	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 24,137
Convertible debenture - cash interest (Note 20)		8,000		8,000		48,000	64,000
	\$	32,137	\$	8,000	\$	48,000	\$ 88,137
As at December 31, 2009							
Trade and other payables	\$	12,669	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 12,669
Amounts due under line of credit facilities		170		3,206		-	3,376
Convertible debenture - cash interest (Note 20)		-		21,874		64,000	85,874
	\$	12,839	\$	25,080	\$	64,000	\$ 101,919

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

# 27.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

#### Commodity price risk

Profitability of the Company depends on the coal prices it is able to realize. Coal prices are affected by numerous factors such as interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation and global and regional supply and demand.

The Company enters into sales contracts with its customers to manage the risk of a significant decrease in the price of coal. The Company has not entered into any coal hedging instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuations in coal prices. As coal sales are the only source of revenue for the Company, a 5% increase or decrease in coal prices will result in a corresponding increase or decrease in revenue.

#### 28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The financial statements include the financial statements of SouthGobi Resources Ltd. and its subsidiaries listed in the following table:

		% equity interest		
	Country of	As at Dec	ember 31,	
Name	incorporation	2010	2009	
Asia Gold International Holding Company Ltd.	British Virgin Islands	100%	100%	
SouthGobi Resources (Hong Kong) Ltd.	Hong Kong	100%	100%	
Dayarbulag LLC	Mongolia	100%	100%	
SouthGobi Sands LLC	Mongolia	100%	100%	
Transbaikal Gold	Russia	100%	100%	
SGQ Coal Investment Pte. Ltd.	Singapore	100%	100%	
SGQ Dayarcoal Mongolia Pte. Ltd.	Singapore	100%	100%	

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### 28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company had related party transactions with the following Companies related by way of directors or shareholders in common:

- Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. ("Ivanhoe Mines") Ivanhoe Mines is the Company parent company and at December 31, 2010 owned approximately 57% of the outstanding common shares of the Company. Ivanhoe Mines provides various administrative services to the Company on a cost-recovery basis. The Company also provides some office services to Ivanhoe Mines in the Company's Hong Kong office and recovers the costs for those services on a cost-recovery basis.
- Global Mining Management ("GMM") GMM is a private Company owned equally by seven companies, two of which include the Company and Ivanhoe Mines. GMM provides administration, accounting and other office services to the Company on a cost-recovery basis.
- Ivanhoe Capital Aviation LLC ("Ivanhoe Aviation") Ivanhoe Aviation is a private company 100% owned by Ivanhoe's Executive Chairman. Ivanhoe Aviation operates aircraft which are rented by the Company on a cost-recovery basis.
- I2MS.NET Pte. Ltd. ("I2MS") I2MS is a private company 100% owned by Ivanhoe Mines. I2MS provides information technology and other related services to the Company on a cost-recovery basis.
- Ivanhoe Energy Inc. ("Ivanhoe Energy") Ivanhoe Energy is a publicly listed company with two directors in common with the Company. The Company provides some office services to Ivanhoe Energy in the Company's Hong Kong office and recovers the costs for those services on a cost-recovery basis.

### 28.1 Related party expenses

The Company's related party expenses are broken down as follows:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010		2009	
Corporate administration	\$	3,832	\$	1,176
Salaries and benefits		2,120		1,321
Interest		-		1,642
Total related party expenses	\$	5,952	\$	4,139

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

# 28.1 Related party expenses (continued)

The breakdown of the expenses between the different related parties is as follows:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010		2009	
CMM	ď	2.040	¢	1.044
GMM	\$	2,840	\$	1,844
Ivanhoe Mines		252		1,787
Ivanhoe Aviation		1,725		-
I2MS		1,135		508
Total related party expenses	\$	5,952	\$	4,139

# 28.2 Related party expense recoveries

The Company's expenses recovered from related parties are broken down as follows:

	Year ended December 31,				
		2010		2009	
Corporate administration	\$	233	\$	-	

The breakdown of the expense recoveries between the different related parties is as follows:

	Yea	Year ended December 31,			
	2	010	2009		
Ivanhoe Mines	\$	156	\$	-	
Ivanhoe Energy		77		-	
Total related party expense recoveries	\$	233	\$	-	

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# 28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

# 28.3 Related party assets

The assets of the Company include the following amounts due from related parties:

	As at December 31,			
	2010		2009	
Amounts due from GMM	\$	238	\$	225
Amounts due from Ivanhoe Mines		156		-
Amounts due from Ivanhoe Energy		38		-
Total assets due from related parties	\$	432	\$	225

### 28.4 Related party liabilities

The liabilities of the Company include the following amounts due to related parties:

	As at December 31,			
	2010		2009	
Amounts payable to GMM	\$	549	\$	240
Accounts payable to Ivanhoe Mines		1		158
Accounts payable to I2MS		367		211
Total liabilities due to related parties	\$	917	\$	609

### 29. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management were as follows:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010		2009	
Short-term benefits	\$	2,336	\$	1,820
Share-based payments		4,517		5,425
Total renumeration	\$	6,853	\$	7,245

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 30. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

# 30.1 Non-cash financing and investing activities

The Company incurred the following non-cash investing and financing transactions:

	Year ended December 31,				
	2010			2009	
Conversion of convertible debenture	\$	347,643	\$	-	
Interest settlement on convertible debenture		1,436		-	
Transfer of share option reserve upon exercise					
of options		3,200		3,010	
Acquisition of shares of Kangaroo		-		8,776	
Total non-cash financing and investing activities	\$	352,279	\$	11,786	

# 30.2 Cash payments for interest and taxes

The Company made the following cash payments for interest and income taxes:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010		2009	
Interest paid Taxes paid <sup>(i)</sup>	\$	21,926	\$	1,642
Total cash payments	\$	21,926	\$	1,642

<sup>(</sup>i) As per Mongolian tax laws the Company offsets current taxes payable against VAT amounts receivable

# 31. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had the following commitments that have not been disclosed elsewhere in the Consolidated Financial Statements:

	As at December 31, 2010				
	Within 1	2-3	Over 3		
	year	years	years	Total	
Capital expenditure commitments	\$126,694	\$ 18,000	\$ -	\$144,694	
Minimum rental and lease payments	2,066	2,696	-	4,762	
Commitments	\$128,760	\$ 20,696	\$ -	\$149,456	

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

#### 32. CONTINGENCIES

Due to the size, complexity and nature of the Company's operations, various legal and tax matters arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company accrues for such items when a liability is both probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. In the opinion of management, these matters will not have a material effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company.

#### 33. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Consolidated Financial Statements of SouthGobi Resources Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2010 were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 30, 2011.

# **Appendix to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# ADDITIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMATION

Additional information required by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows:

# A1. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging the following items:

	Year ended December 31,				
	2010			2009	
Auditor's remuneration	\$	279	\$	198	
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment		3,770		245	
Depreciation					
Depreciation included in administration expenses		118		19	
Depreciation included in exploration expenses		47		23	
Depreciation included in cost of sales		13,054		5,814	
Total depreciation	\$	13,219	\$	5,856	
Staff costs					
Directors' emoluments - executive directors (Note A2)	\$	1,798	\$	703	
Directors' emoluments - non-executive directors (Note A2)		2,439		2,640	
Other staff costs		11,288		10,660	
Retirement benefit costs excluding directors		23		20	
Staff costs in administration expenses		15,548		14,023	
Staff costs included in exploration expenses		1,051		198	
Total staff costs	\$	16,599	\$	14,221	

# **Appendix to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### A2. DIRECTOR AND EMPLOYEE EMOLUMENTS

### **Directors' emoluments**

The Company's directors' emoluments are broken down as follows:

	Year ended December 31,					
	2010			2009		
Directors' fees	\$	377	\$	330		
Other emoluments for executive and non-executive directors						
Salaries and other benefits		900		372		
Stock-based compensation		2,950		2,633		
Retirement benefit contribution		10		8		
Directors' emoluments	\$	4,237	\$	3,343		

Details of the directors' emoluments are as follows:

#### Year ended December 31, 2010

Name of director	 ectors' fees			Retirement benefit contribution		Total		
Executive directors								
Alexander Molyneux	\$ -	\$	802	\$ 994	\$	2	\$	1,798
Non-executive directors								
Peter Meredith	\$ -	\$	98	\$ 659	\$	-	\$	757
John Macken	-		-	296		-		296
Pierre Lebel	104		-	139		2		245
André Deepwell	86		-	139		2		227
R. Edward Flood	34		-	139		1		174
R. Stuart (Tookie) Angus	65		-	139		2		206
Robert Hanson	57		-	139		-		196
Gordon Lancaster	31		-	306		1		338
	\$ 377	\$	98	\$ 1,956	\$	8	\$	2,439
Total	\$ 377	\$	900	\$ 2,950	\$	10	\$	4,237

# **Appendix to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# A2. DIRECTOR AND EMPLOYEE EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2009

Name of director	 ectors' ees	and	aries other nefits	 ck-based pensation	be	rement enefit ribution	 <b>Total</b>
Executive directors Alexander Molyneux (i)	\$ -	\$	181	\$ 522	\$	-	\$ 703
Non-executive directors							
Peter Meredith	\$ -	\$	191	\$ 661	\$	-	\$ 852
John Macken	-		-	332		-	332
Pierre Lebel	104		-	229		2	335
André Deepwell	77		-	225		2	304
R. Edward Flood	29		-	228		1	258
R. Stuart (Tookie) Angus	61		-	218		2	281
Robert Hanson	59		-	218		1	278
	\$ 330	\$	191	\$ 2,111	\$	8	\$ 2,640
	\$ 330	\$	372	\$ 2,633	\$	8	\$ 3,343

<sup>(</sup>i) Alexander Molyneux was appointed as a director and the CEO of the Company on October 11, 2009

### Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included one director of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2010 and two directors for the year ended December 31, 2009. The emoluments of the remaining four and three highest paid individuals for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively are as follows:

	Year ended December 31,				
	2010			2009	
Salaries and other benefits	\$	1,511	\$	695	
Retirement benefit contribution		2		2	
Stock-based compensation		2,813		1,738	
Total emoluments	\$	4,326	\$	2,435	

# **Appendix to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

# A2. DIRECTOR AND EMPLOYEE EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2010			
HK\$ 5,000,001 to HK\$ 5,500,000	-	1		
HK\$ 6,000,001 to HK\$ 6,500,000	1	1		
HK\$ 7,500,001 to HK\$ 8,000,000	-	1		
HK\$ 8,500,001 to HK\$ 9,000,000	1	-		
HK\$ 9,000,001 to HK\$ 9,500,000	2	-		
	4	3		

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, no emoluments were paid by the Company to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of the Company has waived any emoluments during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

### A3. FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

Below is a five year summary of the Company's results, assets and liabilities:

	Year ended December 31,					
	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	
Revenue Income from mine operations	\$ 79,777 2,289	\$ 36,038 6,613	\$ 3,126 949	\$ - -	\$ -	
Net loss and comprehensive loss attributable to equity holders of the Company	\$ (88,434)	\$ (110,805)	\$ (69,576)	\$ (96,736)	\$ (21,729)	
Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing and discontinued operations	(0.66)	(0.83)	(0.54)	(1.89)	(1.31)	
	As at December 31, 2010 2009 2008 2007					
Total assets Less: Total liabilities	\$961,866 (282,976)	\$ 560,684 (563,476)	\$ 99,948 (10,984)	\$ 5,610 (107,441)	\$ 2,315 (6,287)	
Total net (liabilities)/assets	\$678,890	\$ (2,792)	\$ 88,964	\$ (101,831)	\$ (3,972)	

# **Appendix to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

December 31, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

### A4. SHARE REPURCHASE

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company repurchased its own shares through the Toronto Stock Exchange and Hong Kong Stock Exchange as follows:

	Shares	Price p	_	gregate sideration	
Month of repurchase	repurchased	Highest Lowest			paid
August 2010	49	10.51	10.29	\$	509
September 2010	203	10.46	9.44		2,011
October 2010	9	10.03	10.03		85
November 2010	227	11.69	10.60		2,540
December 2010	423	13.86	11.67		5,212
					·
	911			\$	10,357

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had cancelled 792 of the 911 shares repurchased and the remaining 119 common shares were cancelled in January 2011. None of the Company's subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's shares during the year.